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WHY IS TFSL 
FOCUSED ON OLDER 
AUSTRALIANS?
As Australia’s population ages 
this sector is facing exponential 
growth. We want to provide 
an alternative accommodation 
model to meet their needs and 
provide choices. 

WHEN WILL WE 
START SEEING  
PROGRESS?
Over the next 3 years as we 
continue our journey towards 
public listing. 

WHAT TFSL IS 
BUILDING ON IS
Our experience of providing 
accommodation solutions for 
older Australians.

CONTENTS Who are TFSL? 1 What’s TFSL’s plan for the future? 2 Chairman’s & CEO’s review 4 Board of Directors 8 Financial statements 16

Transport Friendly Society Ltd  
ABN 75 052 046 625

ABOUT TFSL
Originally established in 1888 
to serve the interests of the 
Melbourne Tramways Board 
employees, the Society developed 
to represent all arms of Australia’s 
transport industry.

Following our demutualisation in 
April 2014, TFSL became a for-profit 
organisation in July 2014.

Since the demutualisation TFSL 
has undertaken a major review of 
its operations. This review led to 
TFSL ceasing to operate Park Hill 
Gardens Aged Care facility, Transport 
Health Pty Ltd and the business of 
Dental on Swan. 

On the 18th of September 2014 
TFSL sold these businesses for 
a combined profit in excess of 
$20 million. 

TFSL is now focused on maximising 
profitability of the businesses we 
continue to operate and developing 
future business streams to deliver 
sustainable growth.

HOW IS TFSL 
DEVELOPING ITS 
FUTURE?
With a focused strategy  
and executing it with  
discipline. 

Who are TFSL
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OUR OBJECTIVE OUR PRIORITIES OUR PROGRESS

WHAT’S TFSL’S  
PLAN FOR THE  
FUTURE?

•	 Maximise the effectiveness  
of our systems, our people  
and our facilities

•	 Drive the performance of 
our business by building and 
improving on past performance

•	 Embrace technologies that  
help drive our businesses 
forward

•	 Elimination of waste  
and duplication

•	 Improve on business  
delivery outcomes

•	 Capture and analyse our 
business information 

•	 Implement responsive business 
improvements based on our 
data and ongoing analysis of 
market fluctuations / changes

•	 Website and sales  
processes improved

•	 Resident communications  
strategy implemented

•	 Lifestyle programmes  
financed and implemented

•	 Commenced Enterprise 
Content Management (ECM) 
system implementation

•	 Improve the economies of  
scale of our people and systems

•	 Acquire people, skills and facilities 
that will improve our businesses 

•	 Increase our presence in  
our marketplace 

•	 Create key selection criteria  
for potential acquisitions

•	 Develop a short list of  
acquisition targets

•	 Constantly monitor marketplace 
activity and fluctuations 

•	 Evaluation system  
developed and utilised

•	 Due diligence process 
developed, utilised  
and evaluated

•	 Monitoring systems  
established and utilised

•	 Identify gaps in our marketplace 
and develop products that fill 
the gaps

•	 Allow older Australians to 
unlock property equity to  
fund their retirement

•	 Build our business by leading 
and innovating

•	 Create products that improve 
our clients living experience

•	 Develop housing to meet  
the needs and desires of  
older Australians

•	 Develop a sustainable housing 
model that will allow older 
Australians to age in place

•	 Ensure the developed model will 
be adaptable and configurable 

•	 Design brief developed  
and expressions of interest 
called for

•	 Hot spot analysis  
implemented 

•	 Future partners are being 
identified

•	 Deliver on commitments  
to shareholders

•	 Grow the business to meet 
market capitalisation targets

•	 Confirm business sustainability 

•	 Build an organisation that  
meets market expectations

•	 Develop capacity for listing

•	 Allow shareholders to  
maximise value

•	 External Board evaluation 
conducted

•	 ASX systems and policy  
gap analysis conducted

•	 Reporting systems  
evaluated and enhanced

•	 Timeline established

•	 Communications plan 
implemented

FOUR PILLARS

PROCESS  
IMPROVEMENT

ACQUISITIONS

INNOVATIVE 
PRODUCTS

LISTING

TFSL will grow  
its business  
through focused 
activities that 
can be classified 
into four business 
streams or Pillars:

The four pillars are interlocked; 
many of the issues & tasks  
we tackle on one pillar supports 
the other 3 Pillars.

2015 2017

•	 Maximise the effectiveness  
of our systems, our people  
and our facilities

•	 Drive the performance of 
our business by building and 
improving on past performance

•	 Embrace technologies that  
help drive our businesses 
forward

•	 Elimination of waste  
and duplication

•	 Improve on business  
delivery outcomes

•	 Capture and analyse our 
business information 

•	 Implement responsive business 
improvements based on our 
data and ongoing analysis of 
market fluctuations / changes

•	 Website and sales  
processes improved

•	 Resident communications  
strategy implemented

•	 Lifestyle programmes  
financed and implemented

•	 Commenced Enterprise 
Content Management (ECM) 
system implementation

•	 Improve the economies of  
scale of our people and systems

•	 Acquire people, skills and facilities 
that will improve our businesses 

•	 Increase our presence in  
our marketplace 

•	 Create key selection criteria  
for potential acquisitions

•	 Develop a short list of  
acquisition targets

•	 Constantly monitor marketplace 
activity and fluctuations 

•	 Evaluation system  
developed and utilised

•	 Due diligence process 
developed, utilised  
and evaluated

•	 Monitoring systems  
established and utilised

•	 Identify gaps in our marketplace 
and develop products that fill 
the gaps

•	 Allow older Australians to 
unlock property equity to  
fund their retirement

•	 Build our business by leading 
and innovating

•	 Create products that improve 
our clients living experience

•	 Develop housing to meet  
the needs and desires of  
older Australians

•	 Develop a sustainable housing 
model that will allow older 
Australians to age in place

•	 Ensure the developed model will 
be adaptable and configurable 

•	 Design brief developed  
and expressions of interest 
called for

•	 Hot spot analysis  
implemented 

•	 Future partners are being 
identified

•	 Deliver on commitments  
to shareholders

•	 Grow the business to meet 
market capitalisation targets

•	 Confirm business sustainability 

•	 Build an organisation that  
meets market expectations

•	 Develop capacity for listing

•	 Allow shareholders to  
maximise value

•	 External Board evaluation 
conducted

•	 ASX systems and policy  
gap analysis conducted

•	 Reporting systems  
evaluated and enhanced

•	 Timeline established

•	 Communications plan 
implemented

What’s TFSL’s plan for the future?
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CHAIRMAN AND  
CEO REPORT
The 2014/2015 financial 
year represented a year of 
milestones in the history 
of TFSL, which began with 
the demutualisation of 
Transport Friendly Society 
and the sale of the private 
health insurance business 
Transport Health, Dental on 
Swan and Park Hill Aged 
Care facility. The decisions 
that informed this process 
were ultimately a reflection 
of strong strategic decision 
making within a fluctuating 
market place. It was gratifying 
to receive strong member 
support for the proposal for 
demutualisation that now sets 
the scene for the next phase 
of TFSL’s business goals.
The Board and management of 
TFSL have now entered a strategic 
review process focusing on future 
acquisitions for the company that 
will, in the longer term, increase the 
value of shares for shareholders. 
TFSL will remain operating in the 
retirement industry in managing 
The Mornington and, creating a 
new product for older Australians 
to add to its portfolio in 2016.

INTRODUCING  
THE FOUR PILLARS

In moving forward TFSL has created 
a strategic framework in which  
to not only identify its goals, but  
a mechanism to achieve them.  
This framework is referred to as the 
TFSL Four Pillars in which we will be 
rigorously assessing our work, our 
people and our goals within. 

The Four Pillars is now the 
benchmark in everything we do 
and is categorised according to 
improving our processes, the 
identification of future acquisitions, 
striving for innovation and the 
process of listing on the Australian 
Stock Exchange. At TFSL we are 
proud of the processes we have 
created to guide every aspect of 
our business, as we believe that 
a strong focus on maximising the 
effectiveness of our systems, our 
people and our facilities is the 
foundation of good governance. 

We continue to drive the 
performance of our business 
by building on and continually 
improving on past performance. 
To do this we are embracing the 

contemporary technologies that 
will assist TFSL in the forward 
journey. To achieve this we will 
continue to invest and acquire 
the right combination of skills that 
contribute to our business goals 
which relates not only to personnel 
but also to the mechanisms in place 
that continually remind us of the 
importance of quality systems and 
the people that drive them.

This leads us to our plans for 
innovation. TFSL has identified 
gaps in the marketplace and 
are working diligently to develop 
products that will meet market 
demand. These products will allow 
older Australians to unlock property 
equity to fund their retirement and 
lifestyle choices. We at TFSL are 
dedicated to creating products 
that improve our customer’s living 
experience. It is our intention to 
build our core business as we 
work towards being an industry 
leader in innovation and product 
development for older Australians.

The process of developing a new 
housing product and gaining 
support and approval, is not quick. 
Many mistakes can be made by 

rushing to market, particularly in 
the current climate of escalating 
property prices, which are fuelled 
by foreign investment. TFSL will 
continue to thoroughly research and 
plan, selecting the optimum time to 
enter the market. First and foremost 
TFSL will continue to patiently 
manage shareholder assets and 
minimise risk.

Against the backdrop of the product 
development we are focusing 
on, TFSL is also progressing the 
listing of the Company on the 
Australian Stock Exchange.  

TFSL has assembled a group 
of industry experts to assist in 
the process of listing.

This is a process that will be 
undertaken with the best interests 
of shareholders in mind at all times. 
It is the intention of the company to 
not only deliver on our commitment 
to our shareholders, but to grow 
our business to meet the targets for 
market capitalisation, with a longer 
term view to the confirmation of 
listing only occurring when it is  
a sustainable business option.

LOOKING FORWARD

TFSL holds a strong commitment 
to creating products that will allow 
older Australians to release equity 
locked in the capital value of their 
homes to provide them with a new 
range of options for their retirement. 

It is envisaged that this period 
of innovation and development 
will not only position TFSL as an 
industry leader but will also allow 
our customers to benefit from 
future capital growth. Our products 
will allow older Australians to age 
on site, in their homes and in an 
environment that will evolve along 
with their changing needs. The 
freedom of funding choices in aged 
care as our customer base ages  
is an innovation that TFSL is 
working towards.

As this work progresses, the 
benefit to shareholders will be 
measured by the achievement of 
TFSL’s business goals and the 
development of our innovative 
products. This is an exciting 
prospect for shareholders. TFSL  
is faced with an exciting challenge 
as we develop the opportunity 
to grow the business. We are 
confident our shareholders will join 
us in this forward-looking journey  
of sustainable business growth.

The Four Pillars is now the 
benchmark in everything we  
do and is categorised according  
to improving our processes,  
the identification of future 
acquisitions, striving for innovation 
and the process of listing on the  
Australian Stock Exchange.

“

”

Chairman’s & CEO’s review
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Martyn Pickersgill
Chairman, Non-Executive Director

As Chairman Mr Pickersgill has overall responsibility for the Board of 
Directors in guiding their decisions relating to the strategic direction for 
TFSL including the demutualisation of the company, the sale of health 
and aged care assets and the future products in development.

Mr Pickersgill was appointed a non-executive director in 2007 and 
became Chairman in 2008. He holds extensive experience in company 
management especially in the areas of governance, finance and legal 
compliance. He is also a member of The Mornington Owners Corporation 
and as Chairman has overseen the greatest change in the history of 
Transport Friendly Society.

DIRECTOR  
PROFILES

Nicholas Madden
Non-Executive Director

Mr Madden is a fellow of the Australian Society of Certified Practising 
Accountants and has been a non-executive director for 13 Years. 
He currently chairs the Audit Committee which assists the Board 
in all matters relating to compliance.

Mr Madden is also a member of the Constitution, Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee which provides advice on matters pertaining 
to the Constitution. He provides expertise in the areas of compliance with 
Australian Accounting Standards, internal & external audit, and investment 
strategy and risk mitigation.

John Coulson 
Deputy Chairman, Non-Executive Director

Mr Coulson has been a partner at a number of chartered accounting 
firms and has worked as a management consultant since 1984. 
Mr Coulson currently provides strategic planning and business coaching 
services to SMEs principally in the IT and Manufacturing sectors.

Mr Coulson has been a non-executive director for 7 years. His 
responsibilities include membership of the Audit Committee to provide 
consultation relating to TFSL’s financial operation and compliance. 
He also provides input to the Constitution, Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee.

Philip Lovel AM
Non-Executive Director

Mr Lovel has worked in the Transport & Logistics Industry for over 
40 years. This includes periods with AMPOL, Allied Pickfords, Victorian 
Ministry of Transport and the Victorian Transport Association. He has been 
a non-executive director for 3 years.

Mr Lovel is an active member of the Project Futures Committee providing 
his expertise in the development of new products and acquisitions for 
TFSL. This allows him to apply his engineering expertise and contact base 
to improve future projects and acquisitions. Mr Lovel also holds a strong 
interest in the resident community at The Mornington.

John Giraud 
Non-Executive Director

Mr Giraud has been a non-executive director for 5 years. He is a member 
of the Building and Property Development Committee which held the 
responsibility of The Mews development, construction and launch at 
The Mornington. 

Mr Giraud with his background in construction and project management, 
has been an active member of the Building and Property Development 
Committee and more recently The Mornington Redevelopment Committee.

Phil Altieri 
Non-Executive Director

Mr Altieri has been a non-executive director for 7 years. His responsibilities 
include membership of the Constitution, Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee which oversees all matters relating to the TFSL constitution. 
He is also the Chair of the Building and Property Development Committee 
responsible for overseeing the development, construction and launch of 
The Mews at The Mornington.

Geoffrey Scully
Non-Executive Director, Retiring 

Mr Scully has served as a non-executive director for 14 years holding 
a position on the Building and Property Development Committee 
which was responsible for The Mews development and construction 
at The Mornington. He has provided expertise in the marketing of 
Transport Health products, services and market growth and holds a 
strong commitment to the management of compliance and governance. 
Mr Scully has been instrumental in assisting with the recruitment and 
induction of directors and executive staff and succession planning.

Board of Directors



TF
SL

 A
NN

UA
L 

RE
PO

RT
 2

01
5

TF
SL

 A
NN

UA
L 

RE
PO

RT
 2

01
5

8 9

DIRECTORS’ 
REPORT

The directors present their report, together with the financial statements of the Group (referred hereafter as the 
“Group”) consisting of Transport Friendly Society Ltd – TFSL (referred hereafter as the “Company”) and the 
entities it controlled for the year ended 30 June 2015. 

DIRECTORS 
The following persons were directors of the Company during the whole of the financial year and up until the date 
of this report unless otherwise stated:

Name and qualification Experience and Special Responsibilities

Mr Phillip S. Altieri Independent non-executive director for 7 years, Chairman of Building & 
Property Development Committee; Member of Constitution, Nomination & 
Remuneration Committee

Mr John P. Coulson,  
B.Econ, MBA, CPA

Independent non-executive director for 7 years, Deputy Chairman of the Board; 
Deputy Chairman of Audit Committee; Member of Constitution, Nomination & 
Remuneration Committee

Mr John A. Giraud,  
Dip. Mech. Eng

Independent non-executive director for 5 years, Member of Building and 
Property Development Committee

Mr Philip N. Lovel AM,  
Dip. Civil Eng., MBA 
Marketing/Operations

Independent non-executive director for 3 years

Mr Nicholas B. Madden,  
FCPA

Independent non-executive director for 13 years, Chairman of Audit & 
Compliance Committee; Member of Constitution Nomination & 
Remuneration Committee

Mr Martyn R. Pickersgill,  
B. Comm, CPA, MAICD

Independent non-executive director for 8 years, Chairman of the Board; 
Chairman Constitution, Nomination & Remuneration Committee; Member 
of the Audit Committee

Mr Geoffrey W. Scully,  
Adv. Dip HR Mgt

Independent non-executive director for 14 years, Member of Constitution, 
Nomination & Remuneration Committee; Member of Building & Property 
Development Committee

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr Derek Cafferty was appointed to the position of Company Secretary in March 2011. Mr Cafferty has 
undertaken Company Secretarial training at the Chartered Secretaries Australia and holds a master’s degree 
in Project Management.

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS
The numbers of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors and each Board Committee held during the year 
ended 30 June 2015, and the numbers of meetings attended by each director are:

Director Board

Committee

Audit

Building & 
Property 

Development

Constitution, 
Nomination & 
Remuneration

A B A B A B A B

P. S. Altieri 11 12 ** ** 6 6 1 1

J. P. Coulson 12 12 7 7 ** ** 1 1

J. A. Giraud 12 12 ** ** 6 6 ** **

P. N. Lovel 12 12 ** ** ** ** ** **

N. B. Madden 11 12 7 7 ** ** 1 1

M. R. Pickersgill 12 12 7 7 ** ** 1 1

G. S. Scully 12 12 ** ** 6 6 1 1

A = Number of meetings attended

B = Number of meetings held during the time the director held office or was a member of the Committee during the year

** = Not a Member of the relevant Committee

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
During the year the principal activities of the Group consisted of the operation of a private health insurance 
fund, the operation of a dental clinic, the operation of an aged care facility and the ownership and management 
of a retirement village.

In November 2014 the Group sold its private health insurance fund, dental clinic and aged care facility, all separate 
reportable segments (refer to Note 5 of the consolidated financial statements).

There were no other significant changes in the nature of the activities of the Group during the year.

DIVIDENDS
There were no dividends paid to members during the financial year.

There have been no dividends recommended by directors since the end of the financial year.

Directors’ Report
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
(CONTINUED)

OBJECTIVES
The Group’s objectives are to:

•	 Improve the performance of existing businesses

•	 Develop and provide economies of scale

•	 Develop new businesses by innovation

•	 Continue to work towards the listing of TFSL

The Group’s strategy for achieving these objectives includes:

•	 Maximise the effectiveness of our systems, our people and our facilities

•	 Drive the performance of our business by building and improving on past performance

•	 Embrace technologies that help drive our businesses forward

•	 Improve the economies of scale of our people and systems

•	 Acquire people, skills and facilities that will improve our business 

•	 Increase our presence in our marketplace

•	 Identify gaps in our marketplace and develop products that fill the gaps

•	 Build our business by leading and innovating

•	 Create products that improve our clients living experience

•	 Grow the business to meet market capitalisation targets

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW 
The continuing operations of the Group made a (loss)/profit after tax of ($1,129,674) (2014: profit of $652,730).

The continuing businesses consist of the retirement village operations and new project developments.

The Mornington continues to have high occupancy rates, it contributed a surplus before tax of $251,226 
(2014: surplus before tax of $2,400,536). Due to the age of the site TFSL is looking to inject capital in the form 
of capital improvements to the grounds and clubhouse over the next 12 months.

The discontinued operations are not discussed here as they were only in operation for 5 months of the financial 
year making it difficult to provide comparisons. Details of the discontinued operations are provided in note 12.

EVENTS SINCE THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
There has been no matter arise since the end of the financial year and the date of this report which is likely, 
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, to significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results 
of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Information on likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected results of operations have 
not been included in this report because the directors believe it would be likely to result in unreasonable 
prejudice to the Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS 
The operations of the Group are not subject to any particular and significant environment regulations under 
a Commonwealth, State or Territory law.

INSURANCE OF OFFICERS
During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the directors and 
executives of the Company against a liability to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract 
of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of liability and the amount of the premium.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration in accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 
is set out on page page 60.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors.

On behalf of the directors

 

Mr. Martyn R. Pickersgill Mr. Nicholas B. Madden 
Director Director

Melbourne

Dated this 28th day of September 2015

Directors’ Report
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CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE 
STATEMENT
TFSL and the Board are committed to achieving and demonstrating the highest standards of corporate 
governance. The relationship between the Board and senior management is important to the Group’s long term 
success. Day to day management of the Group’s affairs and the implementation of the corporate strategy and 
policy initiatives are formally delegated by the Board to the Chief Executive Officer.

The directors are responsible to the shareholders for the performance of the Company in both the short and the 
longer term and seek to balance sometimes competing objectives in the best interests of the Group as a whole. 
Their focus is to enhance the interests of shareholders.

A description of the Company’s main corporate governance practices is set out below. All these practices, 
unless otherwise stated, were in place for the entire year.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
•	 The Board comprises seven non-executive directors. Non-executive directors bring a fresh perspective 

to the Board’s consideration of strategic, risk and performance matters and are best placed to exercise 
independent judgement and review and constructively challenge the performance of management

•	 In recognition of the importance of independent views and the Board’s role in supervising the activities of 
management, the chairman must be an independent non-executive director, the majority of the board must 
be independent of management and all directors are required to bring independent judgement to bear in 
their Board decision making

•	 The Chairman is elected by the full Board and meets regularly with the Chief Executive Officer

•	 The company will maintain a mix of directors on the Board from different backgrounds with complementary 
skills and experience

•	 The size of the Board is conducive to effective discussion and efficient decision making

Responsibilities

The responsibilities of the Board include:

•	 Contributing to the development of and approving the corporate strategy

•	 Reviewing and approving business plans, the annual budget and financial plans including available resources 
and major capital expenditure initiatives

•	 Overseeing and monitoring 

 – Organisational performance and the achievement of the Group’s strategic goals and objectives

 – Progress of major capital expenditures and other significant corporate projects including any acquisitions 
or divestments

•	 Monitoring financial performance including approval of the annual financial reports and liaison with the 
company’s auditors

•	 Appointment, performance assessment and, if necessary, removal of the Chief Executive Officer 

•	 Ratifying the appointment and/or removal of and contributing to the performance assessment for the 
members of the senior management team appointment

•	 Ensuring there are effective management processes in place and approving major corporate initiatives

•	 Enhancing and protecting the reputation of the organisation

•	 Ensuring the significant risks facing the Company, including those associated with its legal compliance 
obligations have been identified and appropriate and adequate control, monitoring, accountability and 
reporting mechanisms are in place

•	 Reporting to Shareholders

Term of office

The Company’s Constitution specifies that all directors who have been serving for an uninterrupted period 
of twelve years shall retire at the end of the next annual general meeting of the company coinciding with the 
termination of their then current term of office and will not be eligible for re-election thereat or subsequently.

Independent professional advice

Any director may take such independent legal, financial or other advice as he/she considers necessary at 
TFSL’s expense provided the advice sought is in writing, is directly relevant to TFSL’s affairs and the Chairman’s 
consent is first requested and obtained. The consent of the Chairman will not be withheld unreasonably.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established a number of committees to assist in the execution of its duties and to allow 
detailed consideration of complex issues. Current committees of the Board are Audit Committee, Constitution, 
Nomination & Remuneration Committee and Building & Property Development Committee. The committee 
structure and membership is reviewed on an annual basis. A policy of rotation of committee members applies.

Each of these committees has its own written charter setting out its role and responsibilities, composition, 
structure, membership requirements and the manner in which the committee is to operate. All of these charters 
are reviewed on an annual basis. All matters determined by committees are submitted to the full Board as 
recommendations for Board decision.

Minutes of the committee meetings are tabled at the immediately subsequent Board meetings. Additional 
requirements for specific reporting by the committees to the Board are addressed in the charter of the 
individual committees.

Constitution, Nomination & Remuneration Committee

The committee consists of five non-executive directors:

Martyn R. Pickersgill (Chairman)  
John P. Coulson 
Phillip S. Altieri 
Nicholas B. Madden 
Geoffrey W. Scully

The committee advises the Board on matters pertaining to the Constitution, nominations to fill casual vacancies 
on the Board, and remuneration policies and practices generally, and makes specific recommendations on the 
remuneration packages and other terms of employment for senior executives and directors. The committee 
takes advice from external remuneration experts on developments in remuneration and related matters.

Executive remuneration and other terms of employment are reviewed annually by the committee having regard 
to personal and corporate performance, contribution to long term growth, relevant comparative information 
and independent expert advice. As well as a base salary, remuneration packages including superannuation, 
retirement and termination entitlements, and fringe benefits (where applicable).

Corporate Governance Statement
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Audit Committee

The audit committee consists of three directors:

Nicholas B. Madden (Chairman) 
John P. Coulson 
Martyn R. Pickersgill

The committee has appropriate financial expertise and all members have a working knowledge of the industries 
in which the company operates.

The main responsibilities of the committee are to:

•	 Review, assess and approve the annual reports for recommendation to the Board

•	 Assist the Board in reviewing the effectiveness of the organisation’s internal control environment and 
policies covering:

 – Effectiveness and efficiency of operations

 – Reliability of financial reporting

 – Compliance with applicable laws and regulations

•	 Monitoring compliance with applicable laws and regulations

•	 Oversee the effective operation of the risk management framework

•	 Recommend to the Board the appointment, removal and remuneration of the external auditors, review the 
terms of their engagement, the scope and quality of the audit and assess performance

•	 Consider the independence and competence of the external auditor on an ongoing basis

•	 Review and approve the level of non-audit services provided by the external auditors and ensure it does not 
adversely impact on auditor independence

•	 Review and monitor related party transactions and assess their propriety

•	 Report to the Board on matters relevant to the committee’s role and responsibilities

In fulfilling its responsibilities, the audit committee:

•	 Receives regular reports from management and the external and internal auditors

•	 Meets with the external auditors at least twice a year or more frequently if necessary

•	 Reviews any significant disagreements between the auditors and management, irrespective of whether 
they have been resolved

•	 Meets separately with the external auditors at least once a year without the presence of management

•	 Provides the external auditors with a clear line of direct communication at any time to either the Chairman 
of the Audit Committee or the Chairman of the Board

The committee has authority, within the scope of its responsibilities, to seek any information it requires from 
any employee or external party.

Building & Property Development Committee

The committee consists of three directors:

Phillip S. Altieri (Chairman)  
John A. Giraud  
Geoffrey W. Scully

The committee assists the Board in fulfilling corporate governance and oversight duties in relation to the 
company meeting properties obligations, and ensures that the Company has a sound property management 
regime which incorporates ongoing control and review measures.

The committee reports quarterly to the Board.

The committee functions include assessing and reporting on development opportunities, oversight of 
contracts and project managers, oversight of construction budgets and costs, and supervision of agreed 
building programmes.

Risk Assessment and Management

The Board is responsible for ensuring there are adequate policies in relation to risk oversight and management, 
and internal control systems. Policies are designed to ensure strategic, operational, legal, reputational and 
financial risks are identified, assessed, addressed and monitored to enable achievement of the Company’s 
business objectives.

Corporate Governance Statement



TF
SL

 A
NN

UA
L 

RE
PO

RT
 2

01
5

17

TF
SL

 A
NN

UA
L 

RE
PO

RT
 2

01
5

16

FINANCIAL 
REPORT

Consolidated 
Statement of 
Profit or Loss 

18
Consolidated 
statement of 

financial position 

19
Consolidated 
statement of 

changes in equity 

20
Consolidated 
statement of  

cash flows 

21
Notes to  

Financial  
Statements 

22

Independence  
Declaration 

60

Independent  
Auditor’s  

Report 

61

Directors’ 
Declaration 

59

Financial Report



TF
SL

 A
NN

UA
L 

RE
PO

RT
 2

01
5

TF
SL

 A
NN

UA
L 

RE
PO

RT
 2

01
5

18 19

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS 
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Notes
2015 

$
2014 

$

Continuing Operations 

Revenue

Operating Revenue 6 3,670,016 4,910,506

Expenses

Employee benefits (2,736,900) (2,244,039)

Consultant and professional services (624,738) (892,344)

Depreciation and amortisation 7 (149,900) (123,166)

Information technology fees (63,842) (59,911)

Marketing (257,083) (207,770)

Administration (301,018) (130,828)

Business (316,852) (225,668)

Services (262,105) (334,438)

Other expenses (402,702) (301,279)

(5,115,140) (4,519,443)

Profit/(loss) before income tax expense (1,445,124) 391,063

Income tax benefit/(expense) 8(a) 315,450 261,667

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations (1,129,674) 652,730

Discontinued operations

Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations 12 12,054,502 1,424,335

Profit/(loss) 10,924,828 2,077,065

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Net change in fair value of available for sale financial assets 23(b) (24,478) 25,044

Total other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax (24,478) 25,044

Total comprehensive income for the year 10,900,350 2,102,109

Total comprehensive income for the period attributable to owners 
of Transport Friendly Society Limited arises from:

Continuing operations (1,154,152) 677,774

Discontinued operations 12,054,502 1,424,335

10,900,350 2,102,109

The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 June 2015

Notes
2015 

$
2014 

$

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 9 14,302,715 5,656,216

Trade and other receivables 10 1,527,936 1,175,492

Other financial assets 13 15,770,361 2,970,000

Other 11 221,964 154,661

31,822,976 9,956,369

Assets classified as held for sale 12 – 22,525,512

Total current assets 31,822,976 32,481,881

Non-current assets

Receivables 10 12,984,202 12,732,300

Other financial assets 13 6,593,860 3,667,592

Property, plant and equipment 14 645,684 3,427,303

Investment property 15 20,038,818 16,985,373

Intangible assets 17 24,592 39,717

Total non-current assets 40,287,156 36,852,285

Total assets 72,110,132 69,334,166

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 18 1,255,330 1,375,013

Interest bearing liabilities 19 4,359 4,051

Current tax liabilities 5,243,921 –

Provisions 20 509,940 469,388

Other 21 11,109,000 9,184,650

18,122,550 11,033,102

Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale 12 – 16,884,012

Total current liabilities 18,122,550 27,917,114

Non-current liabilities

Interest bearing liabilities 19 9,042 13,430

Deferred tax liabilities 22 5,462,955 3,797,756

Provisions 20 28,628 19,258

Total non-current liabilities 5,500,625 3,830,444

Total liabilities 23,623,175 31,747,558

Net assets 48,486,957 37,586,608

Equity

Issued capital 23 33,057,535 –

Reserves 23 1,221,521 4,529,073

Retained earnings 23 14,207,901 33,057,535

Total equity  48,486,957 37,586,608

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Financial Report
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Notes

2015 2014
Issued 
Capital  

$

Retained  
Earnings 

$
Reserves 

$
Total 

$

Issued 
Capital  

$

Retained  
Earnings 

$
Reserves 

$
Total 

$

Balance at beginning 
of the year

– 33,057,535 4,529,073 37,586,608 – 30,980,470 4,504,029 35,484,499

Comprehensive income 
for the year

Profit/(loss) for the year 23 (c) – 10,924,827 – 10,924,827 – 2,077,065 – 2,077,065

Other comprehensive 
income

23 (b) – – (24,478) (24,478) – – 25,044 25,044

Total comprehensive 
income for the year

– 10,924,827 (24,478) 10,900,349 – 2,077,065 25,044 2,102,109

Transactions with 
owners of the Company 

Contributed capital during 
the period

23 (a) 33,057,535 (33,057,535) – – – – – –

Transfer of Asset 
Revaluation Reserve in 
relation to property, plant 
and equipment sold 

– 3,283,074 (3,283,074) – – – – –

Total transactions with 
owners of the Company

33,057,535 (29,774,461) (3,283,074) – – – – –

Balance at the end 
of the year

23 33,057,535 14,207,901 1,221,521 48,486,957 – 33,057,535 4,529,073 37,586,608

The above Statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Notes

2015 
Inflows/

(Outflows) 
$

2014 
Inflows/

(Outflows) 
$

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from members, rental and customers (inclusive of goods 
and services tax)

13,617,110 25,109,338

Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of goods and service tax) (16,079,223) (25,718,844)

Interest and dividends received 824,970 1,153,921

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities * 30 (1,637,143) 544,415

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment and intangibles (312,447) (172,265)

Proceeds on sale of businesses (net of cash disposed of and 
cost of sales)

20,780,509 –

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment – 1,990

Payments for building under construction – (469,867)

Redemption of other financial assets 502,065 3,780,626

Investments in other financial assets (16,867,819) (8,909,442)

Proceeds from sale of investments in listed financial instruments – 95,535

Improvements to investments (104,339) –

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities* 3,997,969 (5,673,423)

Cash flow from financing activities

Accommodation bond receipts 3,948,014 3,785,654

Accommodation bond repayments (1,577,339) (4,060,772)

Net movement in Loans from residents – serviced apartments 1,924,350 1,016,650

Finance lease repayments (4,080) (19,446)

Net cash inflow from financing activities* 4,290,945 722,086

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents held 6,651,771 (4,406,922)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 7,650,944 12,057,866

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 9 14,302,715 7,650,944

* Refer to Note 12 (b) for details of the amounts related to the discontinued operations, which are included in the above the net cash 
inflows/(outflows) from operating, investing and financing activities.

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Financial Report
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. REPORTING ENTITY
Transport Friendly Society Limited – TFSL (the “Company”) is a for-profit entity incorporated and domiciled in Australia. 
TFSL is an unlisted public company.

The financial statements include the consolidated financial statements and notes of Transport Friendly Society Ltd (the 
“Company”) and controlled entities (the “Group”). 

In April 2014, the members of the Company voted to demutualise TFSL and issue shares to eligible members. As a result 
TFSL issued 18,595,100 shares to eligible members on 1 July 2014 which are required to be verified within a set timeframe. 
All unverified members shares are held in the Unverified Members Trust until such time as the member verifies the holding or 
the end of the verification period. The financial impact of this event was that the retained surplus of TFSL (the parent entity) 
was transferred to the issued capital account.

On 1 July 2014 the status of the registered health fund Transport Health changed from not-for-profit to for-profit.

NOTE 2. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
This note lists all of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

(a) Basis of preparation

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) of the Australian Accounting Standards Board 
(AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001.

i. Compliance with IFRS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

ii. Historical Cost Convention 

The financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on historical costs, modified, where 
applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities and 
claims liabilities.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the 
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
as a whole:

•	 Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

•	 Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly 
or indirectly observable; and 

•	 Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 
observable 

iii. New and amended standards adopted by the entity

The Group has reviewed and applied all new accounting Standards and amendments applicable for the first time in their 
annual reporting period commencing 1 July 2014, and determined that there was no material impact on the Group’s financial 
statements in the current reporting year.

(b) Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all entities controlled by Transport Friendly 
Society Ltd (‘the Company’) as at 30 June 2015 and 2014 respectively; and the results of all controlled entities for the 
financial years then ended. Transport Friendly Society Ltd and its controlled entities together are referred to in this financial 
report as the Group. The effects of all transactions and balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in 
the Group are eliminated in full.

Where a controlled entity has entered or left the economic entity during the year, its operating results have been included 
from the date control was obtained or until the date control ceased.

(c) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably 
measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

i. Interest received

Interest is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest rate method.

ii. Other revenue

Revenue is recognised when the services have been provided to the customer.

iii. Deferred management fees

a. The Mornington Retirement Village Independent Living Units

Deferred management fees are recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the contract based upon the expected 
length of stay and estimates of capital growth since the resident first occupied the unit. The income is discounted to its 
present value based upon an average expected tenancy term of 11.2 years and a discount rate of 3.8% (2014: 3.5%).

Historical contracts of sale provide that 6 per cent of the initial purchase price is a management fee for the first twelve months 
of ownership, being payable to the company on resale of the property during that period. Thereafter, the management fee 
entitlement accrues from a rate of 3% of the future resale price, and increases by 1% per quarter, or part, to a maximum of 
27.5%. For new contracts signed post November 2013, after the first year the management fee entitlement accrues from a 
rate of 6.0% of the future resale price, and increases by 1.5% per quarter for the first 3 quarters, then 1% for the remaining 
quarters, or part thereof, to a maximum of 27.5%.

b. Shearwater Serviced Apartments

Lease tenants at Shearwater Serviced Apartments advance an interest free loan amount to the company against which a 
deferred management fee is charged progressively during the term of the lease. Deferred management fees are recognised 
on an accrual basis in accordance with the contract and the expected length of stay. The income is discounted to its present 
value based upon an average expected tenancy term of 7 years and a discount rate of 3.8% (2014: 3.5%). For historical 
contracts the management fee rate in the first year is 2% and increases by a further 3% per annum until reaching a maximum 
of 20% in the seventh year. For new contracts signed post November 2013, after the first year the management fee entitlement 
accrues from a rate of 6.0% of the future resale price, and increases by 1.0% per quarter for the remaining quarters, or part 
thereof, to a maximum of 26%.

(d) Income tax

The income tax expense or benefit for the year comprises the tax payable on the period’s taxable income based on the 
applicable income tax rate adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and 
unused tax losses and the adjustment recognised for prior periods, where applicable. The activities of the company include 
a dental clinic which is exempt based upon the mutuality principle of taxation.

Financial Report
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are ascertained based on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred tax assets also result where amounts have 
been expensed but future tax deductions are available. No deferred income tax will be recognised from the initial recognition 
of an asset or liability, excluding a business combination, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or liability is 
settled. Deferred tax is credited in the statement of comprehensive income except where it relates to items that may be 
credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is adjusted directly against equity.

The carrying amount of recognised deferred tax assets are reviewed each reporting date. Deferred income tax assets are 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that future tax profits will be available against which deductible temporary 
differences can be utilised.

The future income tax benefit relating to tax losses is not carried forward as an asset unless the benefit is virtually certain 
of realisation. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities; and they relate to the same taxable authority on 
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entity’s which intend to settle simultaneously.

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits at call with 
financial institutions and other liquid investments with short periods to maturity which are readily convertible to cash on hand 
and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

(f) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised at the amounts receivable. These are generally due for settlement within 30 days.

Recoverability of trade debtors is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectable are written off. 
A provision for doubtful debts is raised when some doubt as to collection exists.

(g) Inventories

Supplies and materials are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

(h) Property, plant and equipment
i. Recognition and measurement

Land and buildings is carried at fair value. After initial recognition at cost, fair value is determined by periodic valuations by 
external independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation and impairment for buildings. The valuations are undertaken with 
sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from that which would be determined using 
the fair value at year end. At the end of each year, the Directors update and assess the fair value of each item of Land and 
buildings to ensure these still reflect the fair value of them. Independent valuations are undertaken more frequently if there is 
a material change in the fair value relative to the carrying amount. 

Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and 
the net depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net 
amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. Increases in the carrying amounts arising on revaluation of land and 
buildings are credited to the revaluation surplus reserve in equity. Any revaluation decrements are initially taken to the Asset 

NOTE 2. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
(d) Income tax continued

Revaluation Reserve to the extent of any previous revaluation surplus of the same asset. Thereafter the decrements are 
taken to profit or loss.

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

ii. Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated on a diminishing value basis to write off the net cost or revalued amount of each item of property, 
plant and equipment (excluding land) over their expected useful lives as follows:

Buildings 40-50 years 
Plant and equipment 3-20 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit to the 
consolidated entity. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to profit or loss. 
Any revaluation surplus reserve relating to the item disposed of is transferred directly to retained profits.

iii. Reclassification to investment property 

When the use of a property changes from owner occupied to investment property, the property is remeasured to fair value 
and reclassified accordingly. 

(i) Leases 

The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and 
requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent upon the use of a specific asset or assets 
under arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

A distinction is made between finance leases, which effectively transfer from the lessor to the lessee substantially all the risks 
and benefits incidental to ownership of leased assets, an operating lease, under which the lessor effectively retains 
substantially all such risks and benefits.

Finance leases are capitalised. A lease asset and liability are established at the fair value of the lease assets, or if lower, the 
present value of minimum lease payments. Lease payments are allocated between the principal component of the lease 
liability and the finance costs.

Lease assets acquired under a finance lease are depreciated over the assets useful life or over the shorter of the assets useful 
life and the lease term if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term.

Operating lease payments, net of any incentives received from the lessor, are charged to profit or loss on a straight line basis 
over the term of the lease.

(j) Investment property

Investment property is initially recognised at cost and subsequently at fair value determined by the directors or independent 
valuers, with changes in the fair value recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Revenue from the leasing of the investment property is recognised in the profit or loss for the periods in which it is receivable, 
as this represents the pattern of service rendered through the provision of the properties.

(k) Intangible assets

An item of computer software which is not an integral part to the computer is classified as an intangible asset. Intangible 
assets are carried at cost less depreciation and impairment loss, if applicable, (refer to Note 2 (h)). Computer software held 
as intangible assets is amortised over the expected useful life of the software, estimated to be 3 years.

Financial Report
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(l) Impairment of non-financial assets
At each reporting date, management assesses the carrying values of the entities’ assets to determine whether there is any 
indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the 
higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the asset’s carrying value. Any excess of 
the asset’s carrying value over its recoverable amount is expenses to the profit or loss.

(m) Trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year and 
which are unpaid. Due to their short term nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not discounted. The amounts 
are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

(n) Disposal groups held for sale and discontinued operations
Disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction 
rather than through continuing use and a sale is considered highly probable. They are measured at the lower of their carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell, except for assets such as deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits, 
financial assets and investment property that are carried at fair value and contractual rights under insurance contracts, which 
are specifically exempt from this requirement.

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write-down of the disposal group to fair value less costs to sell. 
A gain is recognised for any subsequent increases in fair value less costs to sell a disposal group, but not in excess of any 
cumulative impairment loss previously recognised. A gain or loss not previously recognised by the date of the sale of the 
disposal group is recognised at the date of derecognition. 

Non-current assets that are a part of a disposal group are not depreciated or amortised while they are classified as held 
for sale. Interest and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale continue 
to be recognised.

The assets and liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale are presented separately from the other assets 
and liabilities in the Statement of financial position.

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity that has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale and that 
represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations, is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose 
of such a line of business or area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. The results of 
discontinued operations are presented separately in the Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

(o) Interest bearing liabilities
Loans are carried at their principal amounts which represent the present value of future cash flows associated with servicing 
the debt. Interest is accrued over the period it becomes due and is recorded as part of other creditors.

(p) Provisions
Provisions are measured using the best estimate of the amount required to settle the obligation.

(q) Other current liabilities
Resident loans

Retirement village residents, upon entering certain accommodation types, provide loan to the company, from which deferred 
management fees are deducted in respect of the provision of certain services and facilities. The actual amount repayable 
upon departure from the accommodation is determined by the terms of the existing license agreements. When a resident 
vacates the accommodation these loan payments are repayable on the shorter of a period of 6 months and 5 years, 

NOTE 2. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued depending upon the contract, or 14 days within a new resident occupying the accommodation they are treated as current 
liabilities and amortised using the effective interest rate method even though they relate to occupancy of the investment 
properties which are non-current assets.

(r) Employee benefits
i. Short term obligations 

Liabilities for wages and salaries that are expected to be settled within 12 months after the period in which the employees 
render the related service are recognised in respect of the employee services up to the end of the reporting period and are 
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities settle. Liabilities are presented as current employee benefit 
obligations in the balance sheet. 

ii. Other long term employee benefits 

Liabilities for long service leave and annual leave not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months after the end of the 
period in which the employees render the related service are measured as the present value of the estimated future cash 
outflows to be made by the Group in respect of services provided by employees up to reporting date. Consideration is given 
to the expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future 
payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date of government bonds with terms that match as closely 
as possible, the estimated future cash flows. 

Regardless of the expected timing of settlement, provisions made in respect of employee benefits are classified as a current 
liability unless there is an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting 
date, in which case it would be classified as a non-current liability. Provisions made for annual leave and unconditional long 
service leave are classified as a current liability where the employee has a present entitlement to the benefit. A non-current 
liability would include long service leave entitlements accrued for employees with less than 7 years of continuous service.

iii. Directors retirement benefits

The company has capped Non-Executive Director related expenses at $500,000 per annum. Liabilities for director retirement 
benefits have been accrued subject to the above capping. The directors have provided for the $274,060 in respect of 
directors’ retirement benefits at the date of closure.

On 29 August 2011 the Directors resolved to close the Directors Retirement Plan. The Provision balance represents the 
amount agreed by those Directors to which the plan applied, as their retirement provision at that date. The balance has not 
been discounted and is presented as a current provision in the balance sheet. 

iv. Superannuation contributions

Contributions are made by the company to an employee superannuation fund and are charged as expenses when incurred.

(s) Financial instruments
Recognition and initial measurement

Financial instruments, incorporating financial assets and financial liabilities, are recognised when the entity becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Trade date accounting is adopted for financial assets that are delivered within 
timeframes established by marketplace convention.

Financial instruments are classified and measured as set out below.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expires or the asset is transferred 
to another party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing involvement in the risks and benefits associated 
with the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised where the related obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired. The 
difference between the carrying value of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the fair value 
of consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Classification and subsequent measurement

i. Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market and are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

ii. Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed maturities and fixed or determinable payments, 
and it is the consolidated entity’s intention to hold these investments to maturity. They are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

iii. Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated as such or that are not 
classified in any of the other categories. They comprise investments in the equity of other entities where there is neither 
a fixed maturity nor fixed or determinable payments. 

iv. Financial liabilities

Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method.

v. Impairment

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial instrument has been 
impaired. In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a prolonged decline in the value of the instrument and/or a 
significant decrease in fair value of the individual assets are considered to determine whether an impairment loss has arisen. 
Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

(t) Goods and services tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the Australian Tax Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition 
of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the balance sheet are shown inclusive of GST. 
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables 
in the statement of financial position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities 
which are recoverable from or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flow.

(u) Finance costs

Finance costs attributable to qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the asset. All other finance costs are expensed 
in the period in which they are incurred, including:

•	 Interest on the bank overdraft

•	 Interest on short-term and long-term borrowings

•	 Interest on finance leases

•	 Unwinding of the discount on provisions

(v) Comparative figures

Comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with changes in presentation for the current financial year.

NOTE 2. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
(s) Financial instruments continued

NOTE 3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 
The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal 
the actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s accounting policies.

This note provides and overview of the areas that involved a higher degree of judgement or complexity, and of items which 
are more likely to be materially adjusted due to estimates and assumptions turning out to be wrong. Detailed information 
about each of these estimates and judgements is included in notes 2 to 25 together with the information for the basis 
of calculation for each affected line items in the financial statements. 

The areas involving significant estimates or judgement are:

•	 Estimation of fair values of investment property – note 15

•	 Estimation of deferred management fees – notes 2(c)(iii) and note 10.

NOTE 4. NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS FOR APPLICATION IN FUTURE PERIODS 
The AASB has issued new, revised and amended Standards and Interpretations that are not mandatory for 30 June 2015 
reporting periods which the Group has decided not to early adopt. A discussion of those future requirements and their 
impact on the Group is as follows:

Reference Summary

Application date  
(financial years 
beginning) Expected Impact

AASB 9

Financial Instruments 

Revised principles for accounting for 
financial assets and liabilities; recognition 
and derecognition, classification, 
measurement, impairment and 
hedge accounting.

1 January 2018
Impact is still 
being assessed.

AASB 15

Revenue from 
Contacts with 
Customers 

Introduces a single revenue recognition 
model based on the transfer of goods and 
services and the consideration expected 
to be received on that transfer.

1 January 2017
Not expected to have 
a material impact on 
the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

NOTE 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION
Description of segments 

The segment information presented in these financial statements reflects the business segmentation as used for analysis 
by management. This best describes the way the Group is managed and provides a meaningful insight into the business 
activities of the Group. The information presented below is on the same basis as the internal reports used by Senior 
Management and the Board of Directors to monitor and evaluate the performance of the operating segments separately. 
Segment information before tax is used to measure the performance as management believes this information is the most 
relevant in evaluating the results of the segments relative to other entities which operate in the same industries.

The following summary describes the operations of each reportable segment:

Segment Operations 

Continuing Operations 

Projects
Head office operations and support to businesses, funds investment and 
development/project costs associated with new strategy implementation 

Retirement Village Ownership, management and operation of retirement village 

Discontinued Operations 

Dental Services Operation of a dental clinic. This segment was sold effective 30 November 2014.

Aged Care Services 
Ownership and operation of an aged care facility. This segment was sold 
effective 30 November 2014.

Health Fund
Ownership and operation of a private health fund. This segment was sold 
effective 30 November 2014.

30 June 2015 
– Consolidated 

Projects 
$

Retirement 
Villages 

$

Total 
Continued 
operations

Dental 
$

Aged Care 
$

Health 
Insurance 

$

Total 
Discontinued 

operations 
$

Total 
$

Profit and loss and Other 
comprehensive income

Revenue:

Revenues from external 
customers

160,660 2,640,576 2,801,236 527,884 2,379,506 7,359,771 10,267,161 13,068,397

Other revenue 841,445 27,335 868,780 – – 246,566 246,566 1,115,346

1,002,105 2,667,911 3,670,016 527,884 2,379,506 7,606,337 10,513,727 14,183,743

Gain on sale of assets held 
for sale (refer to note 12 (c))

– – – 893,895 12,533,294 6,901,783 20,328,972 20,328,972

Total segment revenue 1,002,105 2,667,911 3,670,016 1,421,779 14,912,800 14,508,120 30,842,699 34,512,715

Profit/(loss) before 
income tax

Profit/(loss) before income tax 
– excluding the gain on sale 
of assets held for sale

(1,696,350) 251,226 (1,445,124) 4,126 136,633 (216,155) (75,396) (1,520,520)

Gain on sale of assets held 
for sale 

– – – 893,895 12,533,294 6,901,783 20,328,972 20,328,972

Profit/(loss) before 
income tax

(1,696,350) 251,226 (1,445,124) 898,021 12,669,927 6,685,628 20,253,576 18,808,452

Financial Position:

Segment assets at the 
beginning of the period

4,327,287 31,246,559 35,573,846 87,968 17,112,660 16,559,596 33,760,224 69,334,070

Net Additions/(disposals) 1,512,178 532,883 2,045,061 1,737 461,735 267,529 731,001 2,776,062

Addition/(disposal) related 
to the business sold

23,256,513 – 23,256,513 (89,705) (8,339,683) (14,827,125) (23,256,513) –

Dividends received/(paid) 2,000,000 – 2,000,000 – – (2,000,000) (2,000,000) –

Transfers 9,234,712 – 9,234,712 – (9,234,712) – (9,234,712) –

Consolidated Assets 
as at 30 June 2015

40,330,690 31,779,442 72,110,132 – – – – 72,110,132

Assets classified as held 
for sale

– – – – – – – –

Financial Report
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Comparative 
– Consolidated 

Projects 
$

Retirement 
Villages 

$

Total 
Continued 
operations

Dental 
$

Aged Care 
$

Health 
Insurance 

$

Total 
Discontinued 

operations 
$

Total 
$

Profit and loss and Other 
comprehensive income

Revenue:

Revenues from external 
customers

100,133 2,660,628 2,760,761 1,181,299 5,229,115 16,399,765 22,810,179 25,570,940

Other revenue 456,548 1,693,197 2,149,745 (48,319) (1,090) 600,315 550,906 2,700,651

Total segment revenue 556,681 4,353,825 4,910,506 1,132,980 5,228,025 17,000,080 23,361,085 28,271,591

Profit/(loss) before 
income tax

Profit/(loss) before income tax 
– excluding the gain on sale 
of assets held for sale

(2,009,472) 2,400,536 391,063 105,923 969,800 311,966 1,387,689 1,778,752

Profit/(loss) before 
income tax

(2,009,472) 2,400,536 391,063 105,923 969,800 311,966 1,387,689 1,778,752

Financial Position:

Consolidated Assets as 
at 30 June 2014

4,327,287 31,246,558 35,573,845 87,968 17,112,660 16,559,596 33,760,224 69,334,069

Assets classified as held 
for sale

– – – 87,968 7,877,948 14,559,596 22,525,512 22,525,512

Except for the classification as ‘Assets classified as held for sale’, there no material changes on the total assets of any segment during 
the prior period.

NOTE 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION continued NOTE 6. REVENUE

Notes

Consolidated
2015 

$
2014 

$

Revenue from operations

Retirement village (note **) 2,640,576 2,660,628

Other 10,871 10,572

2,651,447 2,671,200

Revenue – Others

Interest 862,515 449,828

Rent 149,789 91,552

Dividends and distribution income 6,265 13,274

Gains on adjustment of investment property to fair value 15 – 1,684,652

1,018,569 2,239,306

Total Revenue and other income from continuing operations 3,670,016 4,910,506

Revenue and other income from discontinued operations 12 (b) 30,842,699 23,361,085

Total revenue for the financial year 34,512,715 28,271,591

** The retirement village fees include the deferred management fees. The calculation methodology as described in note 2 (c) (iii) notes 
that the fees include estimates of capital growth since the resident occupied the unit and their expected length of stay of residents. 
To determine the capital growth, the facilities were independently valued by Mr. John Conrick of Colliers International Consultancy & 
Valuation Pty Limited as at 30 June 2014. This report also assisted with the determination of the expected length of stay of residents. 
At 30 June 2015 there was no change in capital growth and expected length of stay (30 June 2014: increase of $11,514). For the year 
ended 30 June 2015, the directors reviewed the valuation and associated discount rates. The discount rates have been adjusted to 
reflect the rate applicable at 30 June 2015 results in an additional $93,252 being included in the retirement village fees and subsidies 
income for the year ended 30 June 2015 (30 June 2014:$90,206).

NOTE 7. INCOME AND EXPENSE ITEMS
The following items are significant to the financial performance of the Group, and so are listed separately here.

Notes

Consolidated
2015 

$
2014 

$

Surplus from operation before income tax benefit includes the following 
specific net (gain)/loss and expenses:

(Gain) on adjustment to fair value – investment property 15 – (1,684,652)

Net (gain)/loss on disposal property, plant and equipment – (47,420)

Depreciation

Buildings 25,460 26,149

Plant and equipment & leasehold improvements 109,320 79,627

134,780 105,776

Amortisation 15,120 17,390

Total depreciation & amortisation 149,900 123,166
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NOTE 8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Consolidated
2015 

$
2014 

$

(a) Amounts recognised in the profit and loss

Current tax expense 

Current year (5,287,696) –

Adjustments for prior years – 475,494

Total current tax expense (5,287,696) 475,494

Deferred tax (expense) 

(Decrease) increase in deferred tax liabilities (note 22) (2,595,929) (177,180)

Income tax (expense)/benefit (7,883,625) 298,314

Income tax is attributable to:

Loss from continuing operations 315,450 261,667

Profit from discontinued operations (8,199,075) 36,647

(7,883,625) 298,314

(b)  Reconciliation of income tax (expense)/benefit to income tax payable

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations before income tax expense (1,445,124) 391,063

Profit from discontinuing operations before income tax expense 20,253,575 1,387,687

18,808,451 1,778,750

Income tax calculated @ 30% (2014 – 30%) (5,642,535) (533,625)

Add tax effect of:

Other non-allowable items (120) (1,610)

Inter Group dividend assessable but non-deductible to payer (600,000) –

Sale of Group entity (2,898,304) –

Other assessable income 929,075 (1,707)

(8,211,884) (536,942)

Less tax effect of:

Net (non-assessable)/non-deductible items (806) 354,073

Other items

Imputation credit 2,685 5,689

Overprovision prior years – 475,494

Deferred previously recognised which has been written off 33,026 –

Derecognition of prior year carried forward losses (81,841) –

Movement of net deferred tax liabilities 375,195 –

Income tax (expense)/benefit (7,883,625) 298,314

Consolidated
2015 

$
2014 

$

(c) Amounts recognised directly in equity 

Aggregate current and deferred tax arising in the reporting period and not 
recognised in net profit or loss or other comprehensive income but debited 
or credited directly to equity:

Deferred tax – change in value of financial assets (10,491) 10,735

(d) Tax losses

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised 1,874.346 905,224

Potential tax benefit at 30% 562,303 271,567

The unused tax losses were incurred by subsidiary companies. The losses are currently not considered to be recoverable as 
the entities are no longer trading and not likely to generate taxable income in the foreseeable future and cannot be used by 
the Company.

NOTE 9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Notes

Consolidated
2015 

$
2014 

$

Cash on hand 1,600 1,600

Cash at bank 5,001,115 2,434,617

Cash on deposit 9,300,000 3,220,000

14,302,715 5,656,217

The above figures are reconciled to cash and cash equivalents at 
the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows 
as follows:

Balances as above 14,302,715 5,656,217

plus: Cash and cash equivalents classified within Asset held for sale 12 (d) – 1,994,727

Balances as per statement of cash flows 14,302,715 7,650,944
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTE 10. RECEIVABLES

Consolidated
2015 

$
2014 

$

Receivable – current

Debtors 110,476 -

Deferred management fees 1,106,000 1,100,000

Interest receivable 395,000 75,492

Less: Provision for non-recovery of interest (83,540) -

1,527,936 1,175,492

Receivable – non-current

Deferred management fees 12,984,202 12,732,300

12,984,202 12,732,300

NOTE 11. CURRENT ASSETS – OTHER

Consolidated
2015 

$
2014 

$

Prepayments 97,042 37,375

Mortgage loan 22,000 22,000

GST receivable 29,341 54,559

Other 73,581 40,727

221,964 154,661

NOTE 12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
(a) Description

On 18 September 2014 TFSL exchanged contracts for the sale of Park Hill Gardens Aged Care Facility, business and 
freehold. The assets and liabilities of the business impacted by the sale were classified as held for sale in the 30 June 2014 
financial statements. 

On 18 September 2014 TFSL exchanged contracts for the sale of the shares in Transport Health Pty Ltd and the business 
of Dental on Swan. The assets and liabilities of the entity and business impacted by the sale were classified as held for sale 
in the 30 June 2014 financial statements.

TFSL achieved a combined profit on sale of the businesses totaling $20,328,973. See below for more details.

(b) Financial Performance and cash flows information

The financial performance and cash flow information presented is for the period from 1 July 2014 to 30 November 2014, 
and the corresponding comparative figures for the financial year ended 30 June 2014.

Consolidated
2015 

$
2014 

$

Revenue 

Health insurance premium revenue 7,359,771 16,399,766

Dental revenue 527,884 1,181,299

Aged care service 2,356,080 5,229,115

Interest 246,566 600,315

Other 23,426 (49,410)

10,513,727 23,361,085

Expenses (10,589,123) (21,973,397)

Profit before income tax (75,396) 1,387,688

Gain on sale of assets 20,328,972 –

20,253,576 1,387,688

Income tax benefit/(expense) (8,199,074) 36,647

Profit from discontinued operations 12,054,502 1,424,335

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities (632,501) 1,520,384

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities 20,780,509 (65,437)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities 2,370,676 (272,567)

Net cash inflow from discontinued operations 22,518,684 1,182,380

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably 
measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

i. Health insurance premium revenue

Revenue consists of premiums received from members, inclusive of the Government rebate. Revenue is recognised when 
earned over the period of the membership and is recognised from the attachment date when it can be reliably estimated.

Premium revenue relating to future financial periods is classified as premiums in advance and is measured in accordance 
with the pattern of the incidence of risk expected over the term of the insurance cover.

The proportion of premium received or receivable not earned in the statement of comprehensive income at the reporting 
date is recognised in the statement of financial position as an unearned premium liability.

ii. Aged care revenue

Income and government subsidies for the provision of aged care facilities and related services are recognised as the 
services are provided.
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(c) Gain on sale of assets held for sale

Transport Health 
Pty Ltd 

$

Dental on  
Swan 

$

Park Hill  
Gardens 

$
Total 

$

Net proceeds from sale 16,591,118 868,032 5,316,086 22,775,236

(Less)/plus carrying amount of  
(net assets sold)/liabilities assumed

(9,689,335) 25,863 7,217,208 (2,446,264)

Gain on sale of assets held for sale 6,901,783 893,895 12,533,294 20,328,972

Net proceeds from sale above are before elimination of cash disposed of at the sale.

(d) Assets held for sale and associated liabilities

The following assets and liabilities were classified as held for sale in relation to the discontinued operations as at 30 June 2014:

2015 
$

2014 
$

Assets classified as held for sale:

Cash and cash equivalents – 1,994,727

Trade and other receivables – 934,097

Other financial assets – 11,673,700

Property, plant and equipment – 7,643,905

Deferred tax asset – 225,987

Other assets – 53,096

Total assets of disposal group held for sale – 22,525,512

Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale:

Trade and other payables – 253,755

Provisions – 2,646,035

Resident Bonds – 11,009,273

Contribution in advance and unearned revenue – 2,974,949

Total liabilities of the disposal group held for sale – 16,884,012

NOTE 12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS continued Significant Accounting Policies Relating to Discontinued Operations
Provisions

i. Outstanding claims

The provision for outstanding claims provides for claims received but not assessed and claims incurred but not received, 
estimated risk equalisation liability related to outstanding claims and estimated claims handling costs. The provision for 
outstanding claims is measured as the central estimate plus a risk margin which increases the overall probability of adequacy 
from 50% to 75%. No discounting is applied to the provision due to the generally short time period between claim incidence 
and settlement.

In determining the outstanding claims liability, the Health Fund has adopted risk margins which are in line with those 
recommended for regulatory purposes. 

ii. Risk equalisation fund contribution 

Under the provisions of the Private Health Insurance Act 2007, stipulated in the Private Health Insurance (Risk Equalisation 
Administration) Rules 2007, which became effective from 1 April 2007, all health insurers must participate in the Risk Equalisation 
Trust Fund (“RETF”). These rules charge a levy to all health insurers and share a proportion of the hospital claims on a sliding 
scale (by age) for all persons aged 55 years and over regardless of their length of stay in hospital. In certain circumstances, 
these rules also provide for a High Cost Claimants Pool. The amounts receivable from the RETF are determined by the 
Private Health Insurance Administration Council after the end of each calendar quarter. Estimated provisions for amounts 
payable and income receivable are recognised on an accruals basis.

iii. Other provisions

Other provisions are recognised when the Health Fund has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, 
for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.

Contributions in Advance 

i. Premiums in advance

Refer to note 12(b)(i). These liabilities represent premiums paid in advance.

ii. Unearned premium liability 

At balance date, the unearned premium liability is determined by combining the following:

Closed business – Against the advanced premiums provision there is an assessment of the expected future cash flows 
relating to the potential future claims in respect of the relevant insurance contracts, plus the predicted associated member 
service costs, claims handling costs, risk equalisation liabilities and including a risk margin. Any negative balance from these 
calculations is shown as a liability. The risk margin increases the overall probability of adequacy from 50% to 75% as required 
by directors.

Unclosed business – Against the earned portion of the unclosed business liability there is a similar assessment as above 
including the equivalent risk margin with any negative balance from these calculations shown as a liability.

Constructive obligations – The assessment of constructive obligations is determined by class of business, being 
a portfolio of contracts that are broadly similar and managed together as a single portfolio. There is an assessment of 
contractual obligations up to the assumed date of the next premium change with expected future relevant premium income 
for each class of business assessed against the expected future cash flows relating to potential future claims in respect of the 
relevant class plus the predicted claims handling costs and risk equalisation liabilities including a risk margin. Any negative 
balance from these calculations is shown as a liability. The risk margin increases the overall probability of adequacy of the 
contractual obligations from 50% to 75% as required by directors.
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Resident Bonds

i. Resident bonds

Accommodation bonds are non-interest bearing deposits paid by the resident of the residential aged care facility as payment 
for a place in the residential aged care facility. These deposits are liabilities which fall due and are payable when the resident 
leaves the facility. The bonds are recorded at an amount equal to the proceeds received, net of retention and any other 
amounts deducted from the bond at the election of the bondholder. The bonds have all been treated as current liabilities 
even though generally not all residents leave the facility within 1 year of entry.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements Relating to Discontinued Operations

The key areas of significant estimates and judgments and the methodologies used to determine key assumptions are set 
out below:

(a) Uncertainty over estimate of outstanding claims provision

Provision is made for the estimated cost of claims incurred and not settled at the balance date. The estimated cost of claims 
includes the direct expenses that are expected to be incurred in settling these claims and the risk equalisation liability that is 
expected to arise in relation to outstanding claims. All claims of material value are generally settled within twelve months 
of being incurred and no discount inflation factors have been applied as a result.

The estimation of outstanding claims liabilities is based largely on the assumption that the past developments are an 
appropriate measure and predictor of the future. Claims processed up to and including 31 July 2014 were taken into 
consideration when determining the outstanding claims liability at 30 June 2014.

Each type of business is examined separately taking into account historical trends in the development and incidence of 
the number of claims reported, number of claims finalised and the reported incurred costs. External actuarial review was 
conducted as at 31 July 2014 to provide an independent judgment.

The calculations of outstanding claims are in conformity with Australian Actuarial guideline GN 650 which requires the 
actuary to provide a central estimate and an estimation of the uncertainty around the central estimate. The central estimate 
of uncertainty enables the actuary to advice directors on the provision requirements that conform to the directors’ probability 
of adequacy directions. Uncertainties arise due to the simplification of actuarial models on complex claims management, 
assumptions about claiming patterns based on past data and random variation that can drive the differences between 
actual and projected results.

(b) Unexpired risk reserve

The adequacy of the unearned premium liability is assessed against the present central estimate of the expected future 
cash flows relating to the potential future claims in respect of the relevant insurance contracts, plus the predicted associated 
member service and claim handling costs and an additional risk margin to reflect the inherent uncertainty of the central 
estimate. If the unearned premium liability on the basis of the directors’ probability of adequacy directions is deficient, then 
the resulting deficiency is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

The liability adequacy test is considered in two parts:

•	 The unearned business premium; which consists of the contribution in advance liability and the unearned unclosed business

•	 The contractual obligations through to the next rate change date

The assessment is carried out by business class, being the portfolio of contracts that are broadly similar and community 
rated and managed together. Each class of business is examined separately taking into account historical claiming trends 
and actuarial projections. External actuarial review was conducted as at 30 June 2014 to provide an independent judgment.

NOTE 12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS continued
Significant Accounting Policies Relating to Discontinued Operations continued

NOTE 13. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Consolidated
2015 

$
2014 

$

Other Financial – current

Cash deposits, Held-to-maturity investments 15,770,361 2,970,000

Other Financial – non-current

Ordinary shares 232,189 267,159

Bonds, Held-to-maturity investments 6,361,671 3,400,433

6,593,860 3,667,592

Refer to note 2 for further information on financial instruments.

NOTE 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Consolidated
2015 

$
2014 

$

Land and buildings

At cost

Independent valuation – 2,900,000

Less: Accumulated depreciation – (26,149)

– 2,873,851

Plant and equipment

At cost 1,304,268 1,165,676

Less: Accumulated depreciation (658,584) (612,224)

645,684 553,452

Total property and plant and equipment 645,684 3,427,303
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Reconciliations of the written down values of each class of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the 
current and previous financial year are set out below:

2015

Land and 
Buildings 

$

Plant and 
Equipment 

$
Total 

$

Consolidated

Carrying amount at 1 July 2014 2,873,851 553,452 3,427,303

Additions – 312,285 312,285

Disposals/Adjustments – (10,018) (10,018)

Depreciation expense (note 7) (25,460) (109,320) (134,780)

Transfers to investment property (note 15) (2,848,391) (100,715) (2,949,106)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2015 – 645,684 645,684

2014

Land and 
Buildings 

$

Plant and 
Equipment 

$
Total 

$

Consolidated

Carrying amount at 1 July 2013 10,275,000 989,874 11,264,874

Additions – 143,253 143,253

Disposals/Adjustments – (49,410) (49,410)

Transfer of assets held for sale (note 12) (7,375,000) (450,638) (7,825,638)

Depreciation expense(note 7) (26,149) (79,627) (105,776)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2014 2,873,851 553,452 3,427,303

Refer to Note 16 for information in relation to the fair value of Land and Buildings and their level of fair value levels of fair value 
hierarchy.

Land and buildings stated under the historical cost convention

If land and buildings were stated under the historical cost convention, the amounts would be as follows (including Land 
and Building classified as Asset held for sale):

Consolidated
2015 

$
2014 

$

Land and buildings – at cost – 7,054,719

Less: Accumulated depreciation – (1,937,896)

Written down value – 5,116,823

NOTE 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued NOTE 15. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Consolidated
2015 

$
2014 

$

Balance at beginning of year 16,985,373 14,830,854

Additions 104,339 469,867

Net fair value adjustments – 1,684,652

Transfer from Property, plant and equipment 2,949,106 –

Balance at end of year 20,038,818 16,985,373

The investment properties comprise the Group’s interest in serviced apartments and independent living units at the 
Mornington Retirement Village and a fully tenanted office block. Investment properties are stated at fair value.

Refer to Note 16 for information in relation to the fair value of Investment property and its level of fair value hierarchy.

NOTE 16. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT HIERARCHY FOR NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
Valuations of Land and Buildings

The Group’s property at 487 Swan Street, Richmond was valued as at 30 June 2014 by Mr. Chris Dupen AAPI, Certified 
Practicing Valuer of Colliers International Consultancy and Valuation Pty Limited. There was no change in value for the 
Richmond property. The basis of valuation, was determined by direct reference to recent transactions on arm length 
terms for Land and buildings comparable in size and location to those held by the Company, and to the market yields 
for comparable properties.

Valuations of Investment property

As at 30 June 2014, independent valuations were obtained from Mr. John Conrick AAPI, Certified Practicing Valuer of Colliers 
International Consultancy and Valuation Pty Limited. Fair value was determined by direct reference to recent transactions on 
arm’s length terms for buildings of comparable size and location to those held by the Consolidated entity, and to the market 
yields for comparable properties. 

As at 30 June 2015, the Fair value measurement hierarchy for Non-current assets is as follows: 

Carrying amount 
as at 

30 June 2015
Fair value measurement  

at end of reporting period using:
Level 1(i) Level 2(i) Level 3(i)

Investments properties 20,038,818 – – 20,038,818

The above classification is in accordance with the fair value hierarchy; see Note 2(a) (ii).

There have been no transfers between levels during the year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

NOTE 17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Consolidated
2015 

$
2014 

$

Computer software at cost 171,637 248,777

Less: Accumulated amortisation (147,045) (209,060)

24,592 39,717

NOTE 18. PAYABLES

Consolidated
2015 

$
2014 

$

Trade Creditors 207,450 195,453

Other payables 1,047,880 1,179,560

1,255,330 1,375,013

NOTE 19. INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES

Consolidated
2015 

$
2014 

$

Interest bearing liabilities – current

Secured

Lease liability 4,359 4,051

Interest bearing liabilities – non-current

Lease liability 9,042 13,430

Bank Overdraft

The Group has a line of credit facility of $1.3 million with Westpac Banking Corporation, available until November 2015. 
An interest rate of 3.53% (2014: 3.99%) is chargeable on a total amount drawn down. No overdraft interest was incurred in 
the current financial year as no drawdowns were made as at 30 June 2015 (30 June 2014: $Nil). The line of credit is secured 
by a mortgage over the Group’s properties.

Refer to Note 2 for further information on financial instruments.

NOTE 20. PROVISIONS

Consolidated
2015 

$
2014 

$

Provisions – current

Employee benefits 509,940 469,388

Provisions – non-current

Employee benefits 28,628 19,258

Movement in provisions

Movements in each class of provision during the financial year are set out below.

Consolidated Employee Benefits Consolidated Outstanding Claims
2015 

$
2014 

$
2015 

$
2014 

$

Carrying amount at start of year 1,398,681 1,331,764 1,736,000 1,403,000

Provisions transferred with sale (790,784) – (2,223,000) –

Additional provisions recognised/(taken) (69,329) 66,917 487,000 333,000

Carrying amount at end of year 538,568 1,398,681 – 1,736,000

Represented by:

Current – (Note 20 ) 509,940 469,388 – –

Liability associated directly with  
Asset held for sale – (Note 12 (d))

– 910,035 – 1,736,000

Non-current – (Note 20) 28,628 19,258 – –

538,568 1,398,681 – 1,736,000

NOTE 21. CURRENT LIABILITIES – OTHER

Consolidated
2015 

$
2014 

$

Resident Loans 11,109,000 9,184,650
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

NOTE 22. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 

Consolidated
2015 

$
2014 

$

Deferred tax liabilities 5,462,955 3,797,756

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Receivables 3,895,260 3,819,690

Property valuations 1,733,835 3,169,797

Other 437,125 368,099

Total deferred tax liabilities 6,066,220 7,357,586

Set off of deferred tax assets pursuant to set off provisions 603,265 3,559,830

Net deferred tax liabilities 5,462,955 3,797,756

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets comprises temporary difference attributable to:

Tax losses – 2,892,532

Employee benefits 92,512 440,855

Other 510,753 226,443

603,265 3,559,830

NOTE 23. CAPITAL AND RESERVES
(a) Issued Capital

The Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital or par value in respect of its issued shares.

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends, and to share in the proceeds of winding up of the Company 
in proportion to the number of shares held.

Consolidated
2015 

Shares $

Opening balance 1 July 2014 – –

Issue of shares on demutualisation 18,595,100 33,057,535

Balance at 30 June 2015 18,595,100 33,057,535

Demutualisation of TFSL was effected on 1 July 2014. Shares issued are required to be verified within a set timeframe. 
All unverified members shares are held in the Unverified Members Trust until such time as the member verifies the holding or 
the end of the verification period. As at 30 June 2015, 961,600 unverified shares were held by the Unverified Members Trust. 
The potential impact of any future cancellation will be that the number of issued shares will be reduced without any impact 
on the value of issued capital.

Notes

Consolidated
2015 

$
2014 

$

(b) Reserves

Asset revaluation reserve

At the beginning of the financial year 4,500,832 4,500,832

Transfer to retained surplus for assets sold (3,283,074) –

Deferred tax adjustment – –

At the end of the financial year 1,217,758 4,500,832

Financial assets reserve

At the beginning of the financial year 28,241 3,197

Revaluation of financial assets (34,969) 35,783

Deferred tax adjustment 10,491 (10,739)

At the end of the financial year 3,763 28,241

Total reserves 1,221,521 4,529,073

Nature and purpose of reserves
Asset revaluation reserve

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements  
on the revaluation of non-current assets, as described in note 2.

Financial assets reserve

Financial assets reserve records revaluation of available for sale financial assets

(c) Retained earnings

Retained profits at the beginning of the financial year 33,057,535 30,980,470

Transfer to issued capital on demutualisation (33,057,535) –

Transfer of Asset Revaluation Reserve in relation to Property,  
Plant and Equipment disposed of

3,283,074 –

Net profit attributable to members of Transport Friendly 10,924,827 2,077,065

Retained profit at the end of the financial year 14,207,901 33,057,535

(d) Dividends

There have been no dividends paid or declared during the year ended 
30 June 2015.

Dividend Franking Account 

Amount of franking credits available to shareholders of TFSL  
for subsequent financial years

2,685 –

The ability to utilise the franking credits is dependent upon the  
ability to declare dividends.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

NOTE 24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The consolidated entity’s principal financial instruments comprise of:

•	 Cash and cash equivalents

•	 Local money market instruments

•	 Short-term investments

•	 Bonds

•	 Receivables

•	 Payables

•	 Loans to and from subsidiaries

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of 
measurement, and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised with respect to financial instruments above 
are disclosed in Note 2 to the financial statements.

The activities of the Group expose it to market interest rate risks, credit risks and liquidity risks. The risk framework 
recognises the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise the potential adverse effects on the financial 
performance of the consolidated entity. The key objectives of the management of assets and liabilities is to ensure that 
sufficient liquidity is maintained at all times to meet the settlement of insurance and other liabilities, and within these 
parameters to optimise the investment return for members.

The carrying amounts of the financial assets and financial liabilities by category are detailed as follows:

Consolidated
2015 

$
2014 

$

Financial assets

At amortised cost:

Cash and cash equivalents 14,302,715 7,650,944

Loans and receivables 14,512,138 14,863,899

Held-to-maturity investments 22,154,032 18,066,133

Available-for-sale at fair value 232,189 267,159

Total financial assets 51,201,074 40,848,135

Financial liabilities

At amortised cost:

Payables 1,384,292 1,039,224

Interest bearing liabilities 13,401 17,481

Other current liabilities 11,109,000 20,193,923

Total financial liabilities 12,506,693 21,250,628

Net financial assets 38,694,381 19,597,507

The comparative numbers above as at 30 June 2014, include the financial assets and Liabilities of Transport Health Pty Ltd, 
Park Hill Garden business and Dental on Swan business, which are classified as Asset held for sale (refer to Note 12).

i. Market risks

The market risks the Group is exposed to through its financial instruments are the market value risk and interest rate risk 
due to the nature of its investments.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency fluctuations through its receivables or payables relating to purchases of 
supplies and consumables. 

Interest rate risk arises from interest bearing assets. Assets with floating rate interest expose the Group to cash flow interest 
risk. Fixed interest assets expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The Group’s strategy is to invest in high quality, 
liquid, fixed interest securities and cash and to actively manage the duration. The interest bearing assets are actively managed 
to achieve a balance between cash flow risk and interest rate risk, bearing in mind the liquidity requirements of the business. 

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective weighted average interest rates on those financial assets is 
provided below.

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities that are exposed to interest rate risk are detailed in the interest rate 
exposure of financial instruments note below.

Interest rate exposure of financial instruments

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk, which is the risk that a financial instrument’s value will fluctuate as a result of 
changes in market interest rate and the effective weighted average interest rate by maturity periods, is set out in the following 
table. For interest rates applicable to each class of assets or liability refer to individual notes to the financial statements.

2015 Consolidated 

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate 
%

Carrying 
amount 

$

Fixed 
interest 

maturing in 
1 year or 

less 
$

Fixed 
interest 

maturing in 
more than  

1 year 
$

Variable 
interest  

rate 
$

Non-interest 
bearing 

$

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 2.3% 14,302,715 9,300,000 – 5,001,115 1,600

Receivables – 14,512,138 – – – 14,512,138

Other current assets – Mortgage loan 10.00% 22,000 – 22,000 – –

Other financial assets – 232,189 – – – 232,189

Other financial assets –  
held to maturity 

2.72% 22,132,032 15,770,362 6,361,670 – –

Financial liabilities

Interest bearing liabilities 5.68% 13,401 4,051 9,350 – –

Payables – 1,384,292 – – – 1,384,292

Other liabilities – 11,109,000 – – – 11,109,000

Net financial assets/(liabilities) 38,694,381 25,066,311 6,374,320 5,001,115 2,252,635
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

2014 Consolidated 

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate 
%

Carrying 
amount 

$

Fixed 
interest 

maturing in 
1 year or 

less 
$

Fixed 
interest 

maturing in 
more than 

1 year 
$

Variable 
interest  

rate 
$

Non-interest 
bearing 

$

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 2.42% 7,650,944 4,190,000 – 3,456,244 4,700

Receivables – 14,863,899 – – – 14,863,899

Other current assets – Mortgage loan 10.00% 22,000 – 22,000 – –

Other financial assets – 267,159 – – – 267,159

Other financial assets –  
held to maturity 

4.23% 18,044,133 8,670,000 – 9,374,133 –

Financial liabilities

Interest bearing liabilities 5.50% 17,481 4,051 13,430 – –

Payables – 1,039,224 – – – 1,039,224

Other liabilities – 20,193,923 – – – 20,193,923

Net financial assets/(liabilities) 19,597,507 12,855,949 8,570 12,830,377 (6,097,389)

Resident accommodation bonds included in other liabilities are interest free unless refunds due are effected outside statutory 
period where average interest rate payable is 5%.

ii. Credit risks

Credit risk exposure is constantly monitored by the Audit Committee. All interest bearing securities and cash are held with 
financial institutions as approved by the Audit Committee. The Group does not expect any investment counterparties to fail 
to meet their obligations given their strong credit rating.

The Group does not engage in hedging for its financial assets.

Provision for impairment for financial assets is calculated based on past experience, and current and expected changes 
in credit ratings.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for losses, represents 
the consolidated entity’s maximum exposure to credit risk.

NOTE 24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued
(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies continued

i. Market risks continued

Interest rate exposure of financial instruments continued

As at the reporting date, there is no event to indicate that any financial assets were impaired. The following table discloses 
the ageing of financial assets:

Ageing analysis of financial assets

2015 Consolidated 

Carrying 
amount 

$

Not past 
due and not 

impaired 
$

Past due but not impaired

Impaired 
$

Less than  
1 month 

$
1-3 months 

$

3 months 
over 

$

Loans and Receivables

Receivables – current

Debtors 110,477 110,477 – – – –

Deferred management fees 1,106,000 1,106,000 – – – –

Other receivables 311,460 311,460 – – – –

Current asset – other

Mortgage loan 22,000 22,000 – – – –

Receivables – non-current

Deferred management fees 12,984,202 12,984,202 – – – –

Total 14,534,139 14,534,139 – – – –

2014 Consolidated 

Carrying 
amount 

$

Not past 
due and not 

impaired 
$

Past due but not impaired

Impaired 
$

Less than  
1 month 

$
1-3 months 

$

3 months 
over 

$

Loans and Receivables

Receivables – current

Debtors 7,995 7,995 – – – –

Deferred management fees 1,100,000 1,100,000 – – – –

Other receivables 1,001,604 1,001,604 – – – –

Current asset – other

Mortgage loan 22,000 22,000 – – – –

Receivables – non-current

Deferred management fees 12,732,300 12,732,300 – – – –

Total 14,863,899 14,863,899 – – – –

Financial Report



TF
SL

 A
NN

UA
L 

RE
PO

RT
 2

01
5

TF
SL

 A
NN

UA
L 

RE
PO

RT
 2

01
5

52 53

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

iii. Liquidity risks

The Group minimises liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient liquid assets to meet the prudential capital requirements.

The following tables disclose the contractual maturity analysis for the financial liabilities of the consolidated entity.

2015 Consolidated 

Carrying 
amount 

$

Nominal 
Amount 

$

Maturity dates
Less than  

1 month 
$

1-3 months 
$

3 months 
– 1 year 

$
1-5 years 

$

Payables

Other payables 1,384,292 1,384,292 1,384,292 – – –

Interest bearing liabilities – – – – – –

Interest bearing liabilities 13,401 13,401 341 680 3,338 9,042

Resident loans 11,109,000 11,109,000 – – 11,109,000 –

Resident bonds – – – – – –

Total 12,506,693 12,506,693 1,384,633 680 11,112,338 9,042

2014 Consolidated 

Carrying 
amount 

$

Nominal 
Amount 

$

Maturity dates
Less than  

1 month 
$

1-3 months 
$

3 months 
– 1 year 

$
1-5 years 

$

Payables

Other payables 1,368,776 1,368,776 1,368,776 – – –

Interest bearing liabilities – – – – – –

Interest bearing liabilities 17,481 17,481 341 680 3,030 13,430

Resident loans 9,331,650 9,331,650 – – 9,331,650 –

Resident bonds – – – – – –

Total 10,717,907 10,717,907 1,369,117 680 9,334,680 13,430

(b) Net fair value of financial assets and liabilities On-balance sheet

The net fair value of cash and cash equivalents and non-interest bearing monetary financial assets and financial liabilities 
of the Group approximates their carrying amounts. Listed investments for $232,189 (2014: 267,159) have been valued at the 
quoted market bid price at balance date, adjusted for transaction costs expected to be incurred, which represent a level 1 
hierarchy of fair value measurement (See Note 2(a)(ii)). Unlisted investments where there is no organised financial market 
are stated at amortised cost.

(c) Sensitivity Analysis

Management has assessed the potential impact from shift in the market interest rates and movement in other price risk 
as insignificant.

NOTE 24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued
(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies continued

NOTE 25. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION
Key Management Personnel includes directors and key executives of parent and controlled entities.

Consolidated
2015 

$
2014 

$

Short –term employee benefits 1,427,607 1,210,610

Post-employment benefits 106,214 110,540

Long-term benefits 26,566 15,130

Termination benefits 237,189 –

1,797,576 1,336,280

Related parties are set out in note 28.

NOTE 26. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS
During the year, the auditor of the Group earned the following remuneration:

Consolidated
2015 

$
2014 

$

Assurance Services

(i) Audit services

Audit of financial reports 104,500 105,000

(ii) Non assurance services

Non assurance services 35,770 46,400

Total remuneration for assurance services 140,270 151,400

NOTE 27. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Notes

Consolidated
2015 

$
2014 

$

Employee benefits liabilities

Provision for employee benefits

Current 20 509,940 469,388

Non-current 20 28,628 19,258

Aggregate employee benefits liabilities 538,568 488,646

Employee numbers

Average number of employees during the financial year 101 159
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

NOTE 28. RELATED PARTIES
(a) Directors

The names of persons who were directors of Transport Friendly Society Ltd at any time during the financial year are as follows:

•	 Mr. Phillip S. Altieri

•	 Mr. John P. Coulson

•	 Mr. John A. Giraud

•	 Mr. Philip N. Lovel AM

•	 Mr. Nicholas B. Madden

•	 Mr. Martyn R. Pickersgill

•	 Mr. Geoffrey W. Scully

(b) Other transactions and terms and conditions

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favorable than those available 
to other parties. Prior to the sale of Transport Health Pty Ltd directors and current employees were entitled to a discount on 
their health insurance premiums.

Directors and staff who were eligible members of TFSL were issued shares in TFSL as a result of its demutalisation. Shares 
were allocated on the same allocation basis as for all other members.

(c) Wholly-owned Group

The wholly owned Group consists of Transport Friendly Society Ltd and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Old Richmond Pty 
Ltd, Old Mornington Pty Ltd (formerly Park Hill Gardens Aged Care Facility Pty Ltd) and Maximeyes Optical Victoria Pty Ltd.

Ownership interests in these subsidiaries are set out in note 29.

Transactions between Transport Friendly Society Ltd and other companies in the wholly-owned Group during the years 
ended 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 consisted of:

•	 Intercompany amounts advanced to Transport Friendly Society Ltd from controlled entities

•	 Intercompany amounts repaid to Transport Friendly Society Ltd by controlled entities

•	 The receipt of management fees by Transport Friendly Society Ltd from controlled entities

•	 The receipt of rental income charged to a controlled entity for the use of land and buildings

NOTE 29. INVESTMENTS IN CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Equity holding Cost of parent entity’s investment
2015 

$
2014 

$
2015 

$
2014 

$

Transport Health Pty Ltd* – 100 – 100

Old Richmond Pty Ltd 100 100 20,000 20,000

Old Mornington Pty Ltd (formerly Park Hill 
Gardens Aged Care Facility Pty Ltd)

100 100 1,000 1,000

Maximeyes Optical Victoria Pty Ltd 100 100 1,000 1,000

22,000 22,100

* The shares in Transport Health Pty Ltd were sold during the period. Refer to note 12 for details.

NOTE 30.  RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES AFTER INCOME TAX 
TO NET CASH INFLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Notes

Consolidated
2015 

$
2014 

$

Surplus from ordinary activities after income tax 10,924,828 2,077,065

Depreciation and amortisation 220,941 304,897

Provision for doubtful debts 83,540 –

Net loss/(profit) on sale of non-current assets 7 – 47,420

(Profit) on sale of business operation (20,328,972) –

Changes in fair value – investment property – (1,684,652)

Gain on sale of investment in listed equities – (16,910)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Increase in receivables (547,771) (579,200)

(Increase)/decrease in inventories – 5,526

(Increase)/decrease in other operating assets (57,060) 26,193

Increase in payables 144,916 44,081

Increase/(decrease) in provisions (224,138) 399,917

Increase/(decrease) in other operating liabilities – 207,918

Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liabilities (excluding movement 
for changes in fair value though equity reserve)

1,665,199 (287,840)

(Increase)/decrease in net held for sale assets 1,237,453 –

Increase/(decrease) in current tax liabilities 5,243,921 –

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities (1,637,143) 544,415

Financial Report



TF
SL

 A
NN

UA
L 

RE
PO

RT
 2

01
5

TF
SL

 A
NN

UA
L 

RE
PO

RT
 2

01
5

56 57

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

NOTE 31. PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES
As at, and throughout the financial year ended 30 June 2015, the parent entity of the Group was Transport Friendly Society Ltd.

Set out below is the supplementary information about the parent entity.

Notes

Parent
2015 

$
2014 

$

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Profit after income tax benefit 22,599,235 822,763

Total comprehensive income 22,574,757 847,809

Statement of financial position

Total current assets 29,776,557 2,317,778

Total assets 72,027,673 43,105,549

Total current liabilities 13,331,774 13,284,945

Total liabilities 23,565,058 17,217,690

Net assets 48,462,615 25,887,859

Equity

Issued Capital 33,057,535 –

Reserves 1,221,521 4,529,073

Retained profit 14,183,559 21,358,786

Total equity 48,462,615 25,887,859

The above financial performance information for the parent entity includes the revenue and expenditure generated by Dental 
on Swan, as well as some operating expenditure of Transport Health Pty Ltd , which has been classified as Discontinued 
operations in the Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for 2015 and 2014.

The financial position of the parent entity as at 30 June 2014 includes assets and liabilities of Transport Health Pty Ltd, Park 
Hill Gardens business and Dental on Swan business, which are classified as Asset held for sale (refer to Note 12).

The issued capital represents the retained profit position of the Group as at the date of demutualisation being 1 July 2014. 
Some of the parent entity profit for the year represents retained profits from sold entities realised as profit on sale. 

Contingent liabilities

The parent entity had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2015 (30 June 2014: Nil).

Capital commitments – Property, plant and equipment

The parent entity capital commitments for property, plant and equipment as at 30 June 2015 are shown in note 33.

Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies of the parent entity are consistent with those of the consolidated entity, as disclosed in note 2, 
except for the following:

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost, less any impairment, in the parent entity.

NOTE 32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
There were no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2015 (30 June 2014: Nil).

NOTE 33. COMMITMENTS
At reporting date the Group has entered into contracts for capital expenditure of $Nil (2014: $3,692,220) not all of which 
has been incurred or provided for in the financial statements. The amounts are payable:

2015 
$

2014 
$

(a) Capital commitments

Within one year 144,558 357,615

One year or later and no later than five years – –

Later than five years – –

144,558 357,615

Capital commitments – finance 

Within one year 5,135 6,480

One year or later and no later than five years 9,613 14,995

Later than five years – –

Total commitment 14,748 21,475

Less: future finance charges (1,347) (3,994)

Net commitment recognised as liabilities 13,401 17,481

Representing

Lease liability – current (note 19) 4,359 4,051

Lease liability – non-current (note 19) 9,042 13,430

(b) Non-cancellable operating leases 

TFSL rents premises under a non-cancellable operating lease expiring within three 
years. The lease has annual fixed reviews and an option to renew.

Within one year 104,731 –

One year or later and no later than five years 198,581 –

Later than five years – –

Total commitment 303,312 –
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

NOTE 34. COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES AND GUARANTEE (COMPARATIVE INFORMATION PURPOSES)
As at 30 June 2014 the parent company was a company limited by shares (nil shares issued) and guarantee. Every member 
undertook to contribute to the assets of the company in the event of its winding up during the time he or she is a member 
or within one year afterwards for payment of any possible debts and liabilities of the company contracted before the time at 
which he or she ceased to be a member and of the costs, charges and expenses of such winding up as may be required but 
which in no circumstances is to exceed one dollar – $1.00.

NOTE 35. HEALTH INSURANCE
The disclosures relating to the health insurance business have been removed from these financial statements as the business 
was sold during the period. Details of the sale are contained in note 12.

NOTE 36. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
There are no matters or circumstances since 30 June 2015 that have significantly affected, or may significantly affect the 
consolidated entity’s operations, the results of those operations, or the consolidated entities state of affairs in future years.

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

THE DIRECTORS DECLARE THAT:
1. the financial statements and notes set out on pages 18 to 58 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and:

i. comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which, as stated in accounting policy Note 1 to the financial 
statements, constitutes compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS); and

ii. give a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2015 and of their performance 
for the year ended on that date.

2. In the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that Transport Friendly Society Ltd will be able to pay 
its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

 

Mr. Martyn R. Pickersgill Mr. Nicholas B. Madden 
Director Director

Melbourne

Dated this 28 September 2015

Financial Report
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Level 21 55 Collins Street Melbourne VIC 3000 
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Liability limited by a 
scheme approved  
under Professional 
Standards Legislation 

Major Offices in: 
Perth, Sydney, Melbourne,  
Adelaide and Canberra 
ABN 36 965 185 036 

RSM Bird Cameron Partners is a member of the RSM network.  Each member 
of the RSM network is an independent accounting and advisory firm which 
practises in its own right.  The RSM network is not itself a separate legal entity 
in any jurisdiction. 

 

 
 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
 
 
 
As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of Transport Friendly Society Ltd for the year ended 30 June 
2015, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of: 
 
(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 
 
(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 

 
 
RSM BIRD CAMERON PARTNERS 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
P W FRASER 
Partner 
 
Melbourne, Victoria 
28 September 2015  
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Liability limited by a 
scheme approved  
under Professional 
Standards Legislation 

Major Offices in: 
Perth, Sydney, Melbourne,  
Adelaide and Canberra 
ABN 36 965 185 036 

RSM Bird Cameron Partners is a member of the RSM network.  Each member 
of the RSM network is an independent accounting and advisory firm which 
practises in its own right.  The RSM network is not itself a separate legal entity 
in any jurisdiction. 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 

TO THE MEMBERS OF 
 

TRANSPORT FRIENDLY SOCIETY LTD 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Transport Friendly Society Ltd, which comprises the 
consolidated  statement of financial position as at 30 June 2015, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated  statement of 
cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information, and the directors' declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the company and the 
entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year. 
 
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report 
 
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 
view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 2 (a), the directors also state, in accordance with 
Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial statements comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant 
ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 
 

Financial Report



TF
SL

 A
NN

UA
L 

RE
PO

RT
 2

01
5

62

TRANSPORT FRIENDLY SOCIETY LTD
Level 1, 785 Toorak Road 
Hawthorn East Victoria 3123

www.tfslgroup.com.au

LEGAL ADVISER TO TRANSPORT 
FRIENDLY SOCIETY LTD
Russell Kennedy Pty Ltd

469 LaTrobe Street 
Melbourne Victoria 3000

TAXATION ADVISER TO TRANSPORT 
FRIENDLY SOCIETY LTD
Mr Tony C Jacob, Chartered Accountant

14 Kilrush Street 
Brighton Victoria 3186

BANKER
Westpac Banking Corporation

CORPORATE REGISTER
Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited

GPO Box 2062 
Melbourne Victoria 3001

SHAREHOLDER INQUIRY 
INFORMATION LINE
Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited

(within Australia) 1300 850 505 
(outside Australia) +61 3 9415 4064

CORPORATE 
DIRECTORY

INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
(CONTINUED)
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Independence  
 
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. We 
confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to the 
directors of Transport Friendly Society Ltd, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of 
this auditor's report. 
 
Opinion  
 
In our opinion: 
 
(a) the financial report of Transport Friendly Society Ltd is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 

including:  
 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2015 and of its 
performance for the then year ended; and 
 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 
 

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 2 
(a).   

 

 
 
RSM BIRD CAMERON PARTNERS 
 

 
 
P W FRASER 
Partner 
 
Melbourne, Victoria 
28 September 2015 
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